No. 69005-1

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

# STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

LUIS ANDRE PEREZ,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF (AMENDED)

MAUREEN M. CYR Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

#

# A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

After Luis Perez was arrested on allegations of rape and assault, a police sergeant told him that if he said he had consensual sex with the complaining witness, the charges would be dropped. Believing the sergeant's promise, Mr. Perez told police he had consensual sex with the complaining witness, and his statement was later used against him at trial. Because the statement was the result of the sergeant's false promise of leniency, it was involuntary in violation of due process.

In addition, during trial, Mr. Perez's codefendant made a threatening gesture directed toward the complaining witness while she was testifying. The deputy prosecutor urged the jury to view the gesture as evidence of guilt. Mr. Perez was unfairly prejudiced by his codefendant's harmful behavior. Therefore, the trial court abused its discretion in denying his motion for severance and a new trial.

Finally, several trial court errors in admitting prejudicial evidence cumulatively denied Mr. Perez a fair trial.

### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The court's finding is not supported by substantial evidence:

Shortly after the defendant's first interview with Det. Knudson, King County Sheriff's Office Sgt. Hall discussed the oxycodone pills that the defendant had secreted in his undershorts. The defendant testified he understood this to be a quid-pro-quo: if he talked about sex with [E.C.] he would receive leniency for possession of illegal narcotics.

### CP 246.

2. The court's finding is not supported by substantial evidence:

[T]here is no evidence that the police threatened or coerced the defendant in any way to provide a statement.

# CP 246.

3. The court's finding is not supported by substantial evidence:

Sgt. Hall's brief encounter with the defendant, even if taken at face value as described by the defendant, is insufficient to amount to a promise or threat which would cause the defendant to involuntarily waive his right to remain silent. The statement, as described by defendant, was not coercive.

# CP 247.

- The court erred in concluding Mr. Perez's statement to police was voluntary.
- The court abused its discretion in denying the motion to sever the defendants.
- The court abused its discretion in denying the motion for mistrial.
- 7. The court abused its discretion in denying the motion for new trial.

- The court abused its discretion in admitting the ski mask evidence.
- 9. The court abused its discretion in admitting Ms. C.'s hearsay statement to the officer at the hospital regarding her fear.
- 10. Admission of Mr. White's out-of-court statement incriminating Mr. Perez denied Mr. Perez his constitutional right to confront the witnesses against him.
- The cumulative effect of several trial court errors denied
   Mr. Perez a fair trial.
- 12. The term of community custody imposed for the assault conviction is not authorized by statute.

# D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. The incident.

Luis Perez has known Troy O'Dell since he was about 13 years old. RP 1156. The two men lived together most of the time and treated each other like brothers. RP 1161, 1346-47. In January 2010, they were living together in a house in Burien, with Mr. O'Dell's girlfriend, Candice Sanders, and the couple's two young daughters. RP 1168-69.

During January 2010, Mr. O'Dell's cousin, Christapher White, was also staying at the house temporarily. RP 1169.

E.C. has known Mr. O'Dell since he was a teenager. RP 1170, 1752. Her best friend is Mr. O'Dell's big sister. RP 1752. Ms. C. thought of Mr. O'Dell as her little brother. RP 1753. She also thought of Mr. Perez as her brother. RP 1761.

Ms. C. stayed with Mr. O'Dell and the others at the house for about a month beginning in December 2009. RP 1284, 1764. In mid-January, she left the house and lived on the street for about three days, smoking crack cocaine. RP 1766-67. She did not sleep during that time and became a little "paranoid." RP 1768, 1771-72, 1839. She decided to return to the house to get some sleep. RP 1769, 1774.

Ms. C. called Mr. O'Dell and asked if she could stay at the house. RP 1288. He told her not to come. RP 1288. Ms. C. was not welcome because she had disparaged Ms. Sanders in front of Ms. Sanders's mother, complaining she was a bad mother and used drugs in front of her children. RP 1769-71. Mr. O'Dell and Ms. Sanders were concerned because Child Protective Services had already begun an investigation into the family. RP 1327, 1499. Also, Ms. Sanders did not want Ms. C. around the kids because she had been smoking crack cocaine. RP 1499.

Ms. C. knew she was unwelcome but went to the house anyway, arriving at around 2 a.m. on January 20. RP 1254, 1278. Mr. O'Dell, Ms. Sanders, Mr. White and Mr. Perez were all in the house. RP 1368. Ms. C. was loud and yelling and obviously intoxicated. RP 1291. Ms. Sanders told her she could not come in but she pushed her way through the doorway. RP 1445-46. Ms. C. and Ms. Sanders then engaged in a physical fight in the entryway. RP 1219-20, 1254, 1292, 1446.

When the fight was over, Ms. C. tried to leave the house but Mr. O'Dell grabbed her and prevented her from leaving. RP 1280-82. He did not want the situation to escalate. RP 1280-82. He told Mr. Perez and Mr. White to take Ms. C. downstairs and get her "cleaned up." RP 1242-43, 1461-62. After the three went downstairs, Mr. O'Dell fell asleep on the living room couch and Ms. Sanders went to bed with the kids in the bedroom. RP 1254. They did not hear any further noise or disturbance for the rest of the night. RP 1306, 1515.

The next day, several people came over to the house to make music in the recording studio downstairs. RP 1255. Mr. O'Dell and Ms. Sanders saw Ms. C. lying on the couch in Mr. Perez's room downstairs, where she stayed all day. RP 1247-49, 1259, 1463-65. There was a door downstairs through which she could have left the

# 2. The charges.

The State charged Mr. Perez and Mr. White jointly with one count of second degree assault, RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a); two counts of first degree rape, RCW 9A.44.040(1)(c); in the alternative, two counts of second degree rape, RCW 9A.44.050(1)(a); and one count of unlawful imprisonment, RCW 9A.40.040. CP 64-67. Mr. O'Dell was charged separately with one count of unlawful imprisonment and one count of misdemeanor harassment and pled guilty to those charges. RP 1276-80; 1322-23. Ms. Sanders was charged with and pled guilty to second degree assault and possession of methadone. RP 1426-28. She agreed to testify against Mr. White and Mr. Perez in exchange for the State's agreement not to file an additional firearm charge. RP 1428-30.

# 3. CrR 3.5 hearing.

After their arrest, Mr. Perez, Mr. White, Mr. O'Dell and Ms. Sanders were taken to the police station and separately interrogated. RP 57-58, 143. Mr. Perez was kept in a holding cell for three hours, without food or water, before he was interrogated at around midnight.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Perez was also charged with one count of possession of Oxycodone with intent to deliver based on contraband he possessed at the time of his arrest. CP 64-67. Mr. Perez pled guilty to that charge and it is not at issue in this appeal. CP 170-95.

RP 115, 221, 225. He said he did not have sex with Ms. C. and did not assault her or keep her against her will. Exhibit 4 at 21-29.

Police told Mr. Perez they did not believe him and asked if he would take a polygraph test. RP 78. He readily agreed. RP 78; Exhibit 4 at 27-29. Police then gathered Mr. Perez's clothing, finding a bag of Oxycodone pills in his underwear. RP 74-75, 132-33.

Mr. Perez was placed in a holding cell to await transportation to the courthouse, where the polygraph would be administered. RP 78.

King County Sheriff Sergeant John Hall walked him to the holding cell. RP 224. As he put him in the cell, Sergeant Hall said to Mr. Perez, "about this [rape] charge, . . . the girl's not going to say it if you didn't do it." RP 225. Mr. Perez insisted, "I did not rape that girl." RP 225. Sergeant Hall replied, "Who says anything about rape? Girls do lie sometimes." RP 255. Sergeant Hall assured Mr. Perez, "If you say [it was] consensual, the charges will get dropped." RP 281-82. No one else was present for this conversation. RP 225.

Again, no one offered Mr. Perez food or drink while he waited in the holding cell. RP 136. As officers were transporting him to the courthouse, they stopped at McDonald's and offered him a "Happy Meal." RP 229-30. He declined because he thought they were joking.

RP 229-30. That was the only time he was offered food that night. RP 249. He had not eaten since 5:30 p.m. the previous day. RP 179, 203. He had only four hours of sleep in the previous 24 hours. RP 179, 203.

Mr. Perez took the polygraph. RP 181. Afterward, the administrator told him he had failed. RP 84, 153, 181. Police conducted another interrogation, which was not recorded. This time, Mr. Perez said he had consensual anal sex with Ms. C.. RP 84-85, 90-91. Once Mr. Perez changed his statement, police turned on the tape recorder. RP 153.

In his second recorded statement, Mr. Perez said Ms. C. came over to the house and fought with Ms. Sanders but he did not see the fight. Exhibit 6 at 2, 5. Afterward, he took her downstairs and had consensual anal sex with her. Exhibit 14 at 2. Mr. White was in the bathroom and not present during the sexual encounter. Exhibit 14 at 3. Ms. C. then slept on the couch and Mr. Perez slept on the floor. Exhibit 14 at 5. The second interrogation ended at around 5:20 a.m. Exhibit 6 at 1; Exhibit 14 at 2. In total, Mr. Perez had been in police custody for about eight hours. RP 61; Exhibit 14 at 2.

At the CrR 3.5 hearing, Mr. Perez testified that although he told police he had had sex with Ms. C., it was not true. RP 282. He made

that statement because he thought—based on what Sergeant Hall had told him—that he would not be in trouble if he said he had consensual sex with Ms. C.. RP 298. He felt badgered into making the statement after police asked him over and over if he had sex with her; he was simply exhausted. RP 298.

Mr. Perez argued his statement to police was involuntary because it was induced by Sergeant Hall's false promise. The trial court accepted Mr. Perez's testimony about his encounter with Sergeant Hall. CP 247. Nonetheless, the court found that Sergeant Hall's offer did not render the statement involuntary.<sup>2</sup> CP 247-49.

# 4. Pretrial rulings.

Prior to trial, the deputy prosecutor moved to admit evidence that Mr. O'Dell, Mr. White and Mr. Perez were selling drugs out of the house. RP 475. According to the prosecutor, the defendants beat and raped Ms. C. because they thought she was going to "snitch" about the drug dealing. RP 481.

The court ruled the evidence of drug dealing was not admissible because the State did not show Ms. C. knew about it or that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A copy of the court's written findings and conclusions following the CrR 3.5 hearing is attached as Appendix A.

defendants knew she knew and believed she was going to "snitch." RP 494-95. But illogically, the court ruled that two ski masks found at the scene *were* admissible. RP 482, 501-02, 750, 754-56.

Also prior to trial, counsel moved to sever the trials for the two defendants. RP 373-91. The court denied the motion. RP 392-94.

### 5. Trial.

King County Sheriff Deputy Gerald Meyer testified he contacted Ms. C. at Harborview. RP 684. Over a hearsay objection, he testified she told him she was afraid she would be killed if she talked to him about "snitching." RP 692, 700-01.

Mr. O'Dell testified he saw Ms. C. and Ms. Sanders fight by the front door. RP 1220, 1254. He did not say that he saw Mr. White or Mr. Perez hit Ms. C.. When he saw Ms. C. downstairs the next day, she looked fine. RP 1276.

Ms. Sanders testified she and Ms. C. fought in the doorway. RP 1446. Ms. Sanders broke her arm during the incident. RP 1474.

According to Ms. Sanders, when she and Ms. C. stopped fighting, Mr. White hit Ms. C. twice and Mr. Perez hit her once. RP 1448-51. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The court ruled that evidence of weapons and ammunition found in Mr. Perez's room, where the rape allegedly occurred, was admissible to show the basis of Ms. C.'s fear because she said she knew about them. RP 501-03.

next morning, Mr. White came upstairs and said, "We f\_\_\_ed her." RP 1467.

The next day, outside the presence of the jury, Mr. White's attorney expressed his concerns about Mr. White's mental state. RP 1549. Mr. White was often incoherent or incapable of following directions. RP 1549-50. That day, he was babbling and acting crazy, "talking about clowns and energy drinks." RP 1550-51. During trial, he often smirked at inappropriate times, waved and talked to family members in the courtroom, or waved at jury members. RP 1552. Counsel requested a competency evaluation. RP 1553.

Mr. Perez's attorney also expressed concerns about Mr. White's competency. Throughout the trial, Mr. White would often make "weird" comments to counsel or to Mr. Perez. RP 1553-54.

The court said she had not observed any behaviors of Mr. White that raised concern, but she acknowledged she had been focusing on the witnesses and not on Mr. White. RP 1556-57. The court denied the motion for a competency evaluation. RP 1556-57.

Ms. C.'s testimony followed. She said she and Ms. Sanders fought after she arrived at Mr. O'Dell's house on January 20. RP 1777. She said Mr. White and Mr. Perez also punched her. RP 1777-78.

When Mr. White and Mr. Perez took her downstairs, they told her that Mr. O'Dell had told them to kill her. RP 1789. Mr. White then suggested that, if she agreed to have sex with them, they would not kill her. RP 1790. When she told them she was menstruating, they said that anal sex would suffice. RP 1790. Mr. White went first, then Mr. Perez. RP 1791-92. They each used a condom. RP 1791-92.

Afterward, they would not let her leave the room. RP 1792.

Mr. White made her sleep on the inside of the couch and he slept on the outside. RP 1792. Every time she got up to use the bathroom, they would wake up and follow her. RP 1792. At some point the next day, when no one was watching, Ms. C. grabbed her backpack and left the house. RP 1799-1800.

Ms. C. said she thought Mr. O'Dell, Mr. White and Mr. Perez would kill her if she left the house because they did not want her to tell police or bring police to the house. RP 1796, 1804. She said, "snitches end up in ditches." RP 1796. At that point, after a sidebar, the following exchange with the prosecutor occurred:

- Q. (By Mr. O'Donnell) Ms. [C.], when we were talking a minute before our break, you were telling us how you you used the phrase, snitches end up in ditches.
- A. Yes.
- Q. And when you were talking about that, were you

- looking over at Mr. White?
- Well, I noticed he started shaking his head like this.
- Q. And you're when you're shaking your head, you're nodding up and down; is that right?
- A. Uh-huh. Yes.
- Q. And when you talk about being afraid that Mr.
   White and Mr. Perez would come to the hospital

   or maybe Mr. O'Dell come to the hospital and shoot you, were you looking at Mr. White, as well? Or did you see him –
- A. Well, I seen I seen movements. Or when I looked over, he was nodding his head. Then I looked at the jurors and they were all they were writing. I wanted someone to notice it. I was just, like, uh.

### RP 1820-21.

Mr. Perez's attorney moved to sever his trial from Mr. White's and moved for a mistrial. RP 1821, 1869-73. Mr. White's threatening gestures directed toward the complaining witness were very prejudicial to Mr. Perez. RP 1870-71. The jury would not understand that Mr. White's behavior was likely a result of his unstable mental condition. RP 1870-71. The court denied the motions. RP 1873.

Forensic scientists testified they did not detect any DNA from either Mr. White or Mr. Perez on the anal swab taken from Ms. C. during the sexual assault exam, or on any of Ms. C.'s clothing or the sanitary pad she was wearing. RP 1687-88, 1704-08, 1719-23. The anal swabs did not indicate any trauma. RP 2125.

Mr. Perez admitted he was lying when he told police he had had consensual sex with Ms. C.. RP 2296. He said he gave a false confession because Sergeant Hall had told him that if he said the sex was consensual, the charges would be dropped. He was also exhausted and hungry after eight hours of detention and interrogation, and was afraid of Mr. O'Dell, who often beat him. RP 2314-15, 2341, 2348, 2356. Mr. Perez testified he did not rape Ms. C. and did not see anyone rape her. RP 2298.

In closing argument, the prosecutor repeatedly emphasized Mr. White's threatening gesture directed toward Ms. C. during her testimony. The prosecutor urged the jury to view the gesture as evidence supporting the State's theory that the motive for the crimes was to prevent Ms. C. from "snitching":

And when she's testifying about that fear, when she's testifying about what happens to snitches, she of course is here in trial in this courtroom, she walks in from wherever she lives, and Mr. Perez and Mr. White are here. And what does Mr. White do? He engages her, and he nods. He nods. And why choose those particular moments? Because what is she doing? In the big picture what is she doing? She's snitching. She'll [sic] telling on him. She's telling the truth. So those nods over to [E.C.]. are very telling. You didn't see it, as she testified, because you guys were taking notes, but she saw it. She saw it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Mr. White did not testify and had denied the allegations in his statement to police. Exhibit 1.

And you've got to ask yourself. Why then? Why then, Mr. White? Why then send that message to [E.C.]? And how real is that fear? And what does it take for her to come into this courtroom and tell you what happened to her in light of that fear?

RP 2529-30.

Mr. White's attorney tried to minimize the damage in closing argument by acknowledging that Mr. White's behavior was "inappropriate." RP 2551. Counsel argued that Mr. White was simply responding to the tedium of the trial and acting out of frustration because he believed he was innocent of the charges. RP 2551-52.

Although the prosecutor was aware of Mr. White's borderline mental competency, he argued in rebuttal that Mr. White's behavior demonstrated a "calculated" and "clear threat":

[I]nappropriate is the understatement of the year. What he did as [E.C.] is talking about snitches and then talking about being fearful of being shot by Mr. White and Mr. Perez and the others in court in front of you, in front of — more importantly in front of her is brazen, frightening, it's calculated, and it is a clear threat.

And this is the same guy, if you will remember, who raped [E.C.] multiple times. That demonstrates I will submit to all of you what his judgment is and really how callous he was conducting himself.

RP 2571-72.

The jury found Mr. Perez guilty of one count of second degree assault, two counts of second degree rape, and one count of unlawful imprisonment. CP 134, 136-37.

### 6. Motion for new trial.

After the verdicts, Mr. Perez filed a motion for new trial. CP 227-34. He argued the court should have severed the defendants because Mr. White's gesture directed toward Ms. C. during her testimony and the prosecutor's comments characterizing the gesture in closing argument as a calculated threat denied him a fair trial.

The court denied the motion. CP 235-43. The court acknowledged that the prosecutor used Mr. White's gesture as evidence of guilt.<sup>5</sup> CP 239-41. But the court found significant that Mr. Perez's attorney did not propose a limiting instruction. RP 239, 241. At the same time, the court found "[i]t was reasonable trial strategy for Mr. Perez to choose not to draw attention to Mr. White's trial behavior with a limiting instruction." CP 241.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> A copy of the court's written findings and conclusions following the motion for new trial is attached as Appendix B.

## E. ARGUMENT

- 1. Mr. Perez's custodial statement was involuntary because it was induced by Sergeant Hall's false promise of leniency
  - a. The court's finding that Sergeant Hall promised Mr. Perez leniency on the drug charge if he talked about the rape allegation is not supported by substantial evidence.

#### The court found:

The defendant testified that Sgt. Hall promised him leniency in his likely drug case if the defendant would talk to detectives about the rape allegations. The defendant testified he understood this to be a quid-proquo: if he talked about sex with [E.C.] he would receive leniency for possession of illegal narcotics.

CP 246. This finding is not supported by substantial evidence because Mr. Perez testified Sergeant Hall promised him leniency on the *rape* charge—not the drug charge—if he talked about the rape allegations.

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