# 69005-1

NO. 69005-1-I

#### COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### DIVISION I

# STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. LUIS PEREZ,

Appellant.

## APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

#### THE HONORABLE BETH ANDRUS

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

ANDREA R. VITALICH Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

##

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

like that." Third, although Perez's trial counsel ultimately decided not to propose a limiting instruction regarding White's behavior, the jurors were instructed to decide the case against each defendant separately. CP 140. The jury is presumed to follow the trial court's instructions unless there is evidence in the record to the contrary. <u>State v. Kirkman</u>, 159 Wn.2d 918, 928, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). No such evidence exists.

In sum, the trial court's ruling denying Perez's motion for a mistrial is entirely reasonable in light of the record and the applicable law. Accordingly, Perez has failed to demonstrate a manifest abuse of discretion, and thus, his claim fails.

# 3. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING SKI MASKS AND OTHER PHYSICAL EVIDENCE THAT WAS RELEVANT TO PROVING THE ELEMENTS OF RAPE AND UNLAWFUL IMPRISONMENT.

Perez next claims that the trial court erred in admitting the two ski masks that were found by the police in the downstairs portion of the house pursuant to the search warrant. Perez claims that the admission of the ski masks served no legitimate evidentiary purpose and invited the jury to conclude that Perez was a "criminal type." Appellant's Opening Brief, at 38-41. This claim should be rejected. The ski masks, in conjunction with the gun case, ammunition, and ammunition magazines, were admitted to corroborate E.C.'s testimony that she feared that the defendants would kill her and to prove that her fear was reasonable. In turn, E.C.'s fear was relevant to proving the forcible compulsion element of rape and the restraint element of unlawful imprisonment. This was a proper basis upon which to admit the evidence, and the trial court's ruling should be affirmed.

Evidentiary rulings are matters addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court. <u>State v. Atsbeha</u>, 142 Wn.2d 904, 913-14, 16 P.3d 626 (2001). A trial court abuses its discretion in deciding whether evidence is admissible only when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or is based on untenable grounds. <u>State v. Enstone</u>, 137 Wn.2d 675, 679-80, 974 P.2d 828 (1999). A reviewing court will find an abuse of discretion only if it finds that no reasonable person would have ruled as the trial judge did. Atsbeha, 142 Wn.2d at 914.

Forcible compulsion is an element of second-degree rape as found by the jury in this case. RCW 9A.44.050(1)(a); CP 152, 156. Forcible compulsion does not require the use of physical force; rather, forcible compulsion may be established by evidence of an express or implied threat to use a weapon or to otherwise inflict injury upon the victim. <u>State v. Bright</u>, 129 Wn.2d 257, 266-70, 916 P.2d 922 (1996); CP 149.

Restraint is an element of unlawful imprisonment. RCW 9A.40.040; CP 158. Restraint means "to restrict a person's movements without consent and without legal authority" in a manner that substantially interferes with that person's liberty. RCW 9A.40.010(6); CP 158. "And restraint is 'without consent' if it is accomplished by physical force *or intimidation*." <u>State v. Atkins</u>, 130 Wn. App. 395, 401, 123 P.3d 126 (2005) (emphasis supplied); RCW 9A.40.010(6)(a); CP 158.

In short, evidence of an express or implied threat of harm to the victim is relevant to proving second-degree rape, and evidence of intimidation of the victim is relevant to proving unlawful imprisonment. Therefore, evidence of a victim's fear that the defendant has both the intent and the capability to harm her is relevant to proving the elements of both crimes.

In this case, the trial court ruled that certain evidence discovered by the police during service of a search warrant was admissible during the State's case-in-chief. More specifically, the trial court allowed the State to introduce the gun case, ammunition,

- 33 -

ammunition magazines, and ski masks that were found in Perez's room and in the studio in the lower level of the house, where E.C. had been raped and restrained against her will. The basis of the trial court's ruling was that these items were relevant to prove why E.C. was afraid of the defendants, and to prove that her fear was reasonable. RP (11/23/11) 473-502.

During the trial, E.C. testified that she submitted to having anal intercourse with both Perez and White because they threatened to kill her if she refused. RP (12/12/11) 1789-91. In addition, E.C. explained that she stayed in the house after the rape when Perez and White told her that she was not allowed to leave; again, she believed that they would kill her if she tried to leave "because they would think [she] was going to tell the police" about what they had done. RP (12/12/11) 1794, 1796. E.C. also testified that she had seen both defendants in possession of firearms, and that Perez kept a firearm in his room. RP (12/12/11) 1788-89.

Given E.C.'s testimony, and given the elements of rape and unlawful imprisonment as discussed above, the physical evidence admitted by the trial court corroborating E.C.'s fear of the defendants was relevant to an issue of consequence at trial. *See* ER 401, 402. Accordingly, the trial court's ruling is reasonable and rests on tenable grounds. In addition, the trial court excluded other evidence; specifically, the court excluded body armor and a holster that were found upstairs rather than downstairs, and all evidence of drugs and drug dealing. RP (11/23/11) 492, 496-502. The fact that the trial court admitted only the evidence found in the downstairs rooms and excluded all evidence of drug dealing further demonstrates that the trial court exercised its discretion carefully and appropriately. In sum, Perez cannot demonstrate that the trial court manifestly abused its discretion in allowing the ski masks to be admitted along with the gun case, ammunition, and ammunition magazines that were found in the basement rooms where E.C. was raped and held captive.

But even if this Court were to conclude that the ski masks should not have been admitted, Perez is still not entitled to a new trial. Evidentiary error will not result in reversal on appeal unless there is a reasonable probability that "the outcome of the trial would have been different if the error had not occurred." <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 102 Wn.2d 689, 696, 689 P.2d 76 (1984). In this case, the jury did not convict Perez of assault, rape, and unlawful imprisonment because the police found two ski masks in the basement. Rather, the jury convicted Perez of assault, rape, and unlawful

- 35 -

imprisonment because the evidence of Perez's guilt for those crimes was overwhelming, and because Perez's custodial statements and trial testimony were both incredible and inculpatory. In short, Perez has not shown that the ski masks had any effect on the outcome of the trial in light of the record as a whole. Perez's claim may be rejected for this reason as well.

# 4. E.C.'S STATEMENTS TO DEPUTY MEYER WERE ADMITTED WITHOUT OBJECTION, AND WERE MERELY CUMULATIVE OF HER STATEMENTS TO NUMEROUS OTHER WITNESSES THAT HAVE NOT BEEN CHALLENGED ON APPEAL.

Perez next claims that the trial court erred in allowing Deputy Meyer to testify that E.C. told him that she was afraid that she would be killed if she told him what had happened. More specifically, Perez claims that E.C.'s statement to Deputy Meyer was not a present sense impression under ER 803(a)(1), and that the trial court erred in ruling that it was. Appellant's Opening Brief, at 41-43. But whether or not this claim has any merit,<sup>15</sup> the claim is unpreserved, and any conceivable error is harmless because E.C. made the same statements to numerous other witnesses whose testimony is not challenged on appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The State does not concede that E.C.'s statement was not admissible. There is simply no need to address the issue.

Deputy Meyer was the first police officer to speak with E.C. at Harborview Medical Center. He testified that the topic of "snitching" came up when he spoke with her, and that she "didn't want to talk about the snitching" because she was "afraid she would be killed." RP (12/1/11) 692. This testimony was ultimately admitted without objection.<sup>16</sup> Accordingly, this claim is not preserved for review, and this Court should not address it. *See* <u>State v. Powell</u>, 126 Wn.2d 244, 257, 893 P.2d 615 (1995) (in the absence of a motion *in limine* or a request for a continuing objection, a contemporaneous objection is necessary to preserve a claim that hearsay has been admitted erroneously).

Moreover, Deputy Meyer's testimony was virtually the same as the testimony of numerous other witnesses. Christine Hoolboom, a nurse at Highline Hospital, testified that E.C. was "afraid she would get hurt if she gave a lot of information," and that she refused to contact the police. RP (12/5/11) 977-78. Similarly, E.C. told her pastor that she did not want to call the police because she was "afraid that they were going to come back and maybe beat

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Perez contends that there was an objection to this testimony. Appellant's Opening Brief, at 41-42. But the record shows otherwise. Although co-defendant White's trial counsel objected when this subject was initially broached the previous day, no objection was made when Deputy Meyer actually testified about what E.C. told him. RP (11/30/11) 655-57; RP (12/1/11) 678-80, 692-93.

her some more[.]" RP (12/12/11) 1909. Dr. Lance Young, who treated E.C. at Highline Hospital, testified that E.C. told him that she did not want to be transferred to Harborview because "she was worried that the people who did this to her would know that that was where she would go, and that they would show up at the hospital and execute her with handguns." RP (12/13/11) 1999. E.C. also told Harborview social worker Joanne Veneziano that she was afraid that the defendants would kill her because she was reporting the crime. RP (12/13/11) 2052. Detective Priebe-Olson testified that E.C. was afraid to talk to the police because she thought that she would be killed. RP (12/14/11) 2225. And lastly, E.C. testified that she told the police that the defendants would try to kill her, and that she gave the police a written statement that said, "They will try and kill me now since I told. They threatened to kill me already." RP (12/12/11) 1804.

Given all of this testimony, which was admitted without objection and is not challenged on appeal, any conceivable error in admitting Deputy Meyer's testimony is plainly harmless because Deputy Meyer's testimony is merely cumulative of other evidence. *See* <u>State v. Flores</u>, 164 Wn.2d 1, 19, 186 P.3d 1038 (2008) (the admission of evidence "that is merely cumulative of overwhelming untainted evidence is harmless"). Perez's claim fails for this reason as well.

# 5. WHITE'S STATEMENT TO CANDICE SANDERS DOES NOT IMPLICATE PEREZ'S RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION, AND ANY POSSIBLE ERROR IS NOT "MANIFEST" UNDER RAP 2.5.

Perez next claims that Candice Sanders's testimony that co-defendant White said "we fucked her" was admitted in violation of the Confrontation Clause and <u>Bruton v. United States</u>, 391 U.S. 123, 88 S. Ct. 1620, 20 L. Ed. 2d 476 (1968). Appellant's Opening Brief, at 44-47. This claim should be rejected for two reasons. First, White's statement qualifies as an adoptive admission by Perez, and thus, the Confrontation Clause is not implicated. Second, this statement was admitted without objection, and Perez cannot demonstrate actual prejudice; therefore, any possible error is not "manifest" under RAP 2.5, and thus, this claim cannot be raised for the first time on appeal.

As a general rule, a non-testifying co-defendant's statements directly implicating the defendant in the crime should not be admitted in a joint trial, because the admission of such statements violates the defendant's right to confrontation under the Sixth Amendment. <u>Bruton</u>, 391 U.S. at 135-36. However, a statement made by someone other than the defendant is admissible as an adoptive admission by the defendant if the defendant "heard the accusatory or incriminating statement and was mentally and physically able to respond," and "the statement and circumstances were such that it is reasonable to conclude the [defendant] would have responded had there been no intention to acquiesce." <u>State v. Neslund</u>, 50 Wn. App. 531, 551, 749 P.2d 725, <u>rev. denied</u>, 110 Wn.2d 1025 (1988). Adoptive admissions are admissible under ER 801(d)(2)(ii) as statements of a party opponent in the same manner as if the defendant had made the statements himself. <u>Id</u>.

But even if a statement is admitted in violation of <u>Bruton</u> and the defendant preserves the error by objecting, "confrontation clause error is harmless if the evidence is overwhelming and the violation so insignificant" that the reviewing court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the statement at issue did not affect the verdict. <u>State v. Vincent</u>, 131 Wn. App. 147, 155, 120 P.3d 120 (2005), *rev. denied sub nom.* <u>State v. Carter-Vincent</u>, 158 Wn.2d 1015 (2006). And, if the defendant did *not* object to the admission of the statement, the defendant cannot raise a <u>Bruton</u>

- 40 -

claim for the first time on appeal unless the alleged error was "manifest," meaning that it resulted in actual prejudice and had some demonstrable effect on the outcome of the trial. <u>State v.</u> <u>Kirkman</u>, 159 Wn.2d 918, 934-35, 155 P.3d 125 (2007); RAP 2.5(a)(3). Based on these principles, Perez's claim is without merit.

In this case, Candice Sanders testified that the morning after E.C. was beaten, Sanders was in the living room watching television with O'Dell and both defendants when White stated, "We fucked her." RP (12/7/11) 1467. Sanders explained that at that point she "knew that [they] were in a lot of trouble," and that she would be going to jail for a long time. RP (12/7/11) 1467-68. Sanders observed that when White made the statement, Perez was biting his nails, which was something that he often did when he was nervous or "in thought about something." RP (12/7/11) 1469. There was no objection to Sanders's testimony about White's statement and Perez's reaction (or lack thereof).

Based on this record, White's statement qualifies as an adoptive admission by Perez. Perez was present when White made the statement that "we fucked her," Perez was capable of responding to the statement, and the statement itself and the surrounding circumstances were such that Perez would have

- 41 -

1310-12 Perez COA

responded to the statement if he had not intended to acquiesce. Indeed, Perez's nervous nail-biting is circumstantial evidence that he felt the same way that Sanders did, *i.e.*, that they were "in a lot of trouble." Accordingly, White's statement that "we fucked her" does not implicate Perez's right to confrontation because it is an adoptive admission by Perez.

But even if this Court were to assume that a <u>Bruton</u> violation occurred, Perez has not demonstrated that the alleged error was "manifest" as required under RAP 2.5 because the evidence of Perez's guilt is overwhelming.

E.C. testified at length and in detail about how after the defendants punched her in the face so hard that her eye socket was fractured and she was bleeding everywhere, they took her downstairs and took turns anally raping her, and they put their penises in her face and demanded fellatio while laughing at her. RP (12/12/11) 1777-81, 1790-94, 1830-31, 1890-91. When Perez was initially questioned by the police, he denied having intercourse with E.C. Pretrial Ex. 4. In a subsequent statement to the police, Perez admitted that he had anal intercourse with E.C., but claimed that "she wanted it." Pretrial Ex. 6. Considering E.C.'s serious physical injuries and the surrounding circumstances, Perez's claim

- 42 -

``

that E.C. consented to have anal intercourse with him is both completely incredible and highly inculpatory. Perez's trial testimony, wherein he claimed once again that he did not have intercourse with E.C., was thoroughly impeached and completely lacking in credibility.<sup>17</sup> See, e.g., RP (12/14/11) 2280-82, 2287-98; RP (12/15/11) 2312-54, 2370-77.

In sum, the evidence against Perez was very strong and compelling, and he cannot demonstrate that material prejudice resulted from the admission of White's statement. Therefore, any potential error is not "manifest," and Perez cannot raise this claim for the first time on appeal under RAP 2.5.

### 6. PEREZ'S CUMULATIVE ERROR CLAIM SHOULD BE REJECTED.

Perez also claims that even if this court finds that none of the trial errors he alleges warrants reversal individually, the cumulative effect of these alleged errors justifies a new trial. *See* Appellant's Opening Brief, at 47-48. This claim should be rejected. An accumulation of trial errors that do not require reversal individually

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